RECEIVED

Dec 19 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from York County
Court of Common Pleas

Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001574

Steven R. Edwards, Individually and as Personal Representative of the
Estate of Steven Redfern Steward,.....Respondent

v.

Scapa Waycross, Inc.,.....Petitioner

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

C. Mitchell Brown (12872)
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
1320 Main Street, 17th Floor
Columbia, SC 29201
803-799-2000
mitch.brown@nelsonmullins.com

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Scapa Waycross, Inc. petitions the Court for a writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' opinion issued August 3, 2022, affirming the trial court's rulings in favor of Respondent Stewart. *Edwards v. Scapa Waycross, Inc.*, Op. No. 5931 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 3, 2022). The Court of Appeals' rulings conflict with prior decisions of this Court, as well as courts around the nation, and certiorari should be granted.

In analyzing whether Stewart presented legally sufficient evidence to prove substantial factor causation, the Court of Appeals relied on Pennsylvania law—which differs from South Carolina law. The general consensus among courts throughout the United States is that the “cumulative exposure” theory Stewart's experts relied on in this matter cannot properly be used to establish either general or specific causation in cases of this nature. The theory is plainly inconsistent with South Carolina law on substantial factor causation in toxic tort cases.

The Court should grant certiorari and make clear its adherence to the position taken by most courts concerning proof required to establish substantial factor causation in cases involving asbestos-related mesothelioma. The Court should specifically reject the Pennsylvania Supreme Court's decision in *Rost v. Ford Motor Co.*, 151 A.3d 1032 (Pa. 2016)—not adopt it as the Court of Appeals has done.

The Court of Appeals also erred in affirming the trial court's additur ruling, effectively granting the trial court unfettered discretion to grant additur whenever it seems fitting according to the trial judge, regardless of whether a compelling reason exists for additur. Additur was improper here because the damage awards here were not “unduly conservative.” *Riley v. Ford Motor Co.*, 414 S.C. 185, 192 (2015). South Carolina courts need additional guidance from this Court on the issue of additur.

Finally, the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's ruling on the issue of allocating settlement proceeds. South Carolina practitioners and courts need this Court's guidance on this issue as well. As a matter of law, Respondent's 80% wrongful-death-claim/20% survival-claim allocation was not reasonable under the facts. Respondent allocated 80% of the settlement proceeds to the wrongful death claim even though the trial court found no reason to increase the jury's award of \$100,000 for the wrongful death damages, given Stewart's limited relationship with his children. Only 20% of the proceeds were allocated to the survival claim even though the trial court believed the evidence concerning the Stewart's survival damages warranted a 67% increase in survival damages—from \$600,000 to \$1,000,000.

In short, the trial court was of the view that the evidence supported a finding that it was reasonable and appropriate for 10% of the total damages to be awarded for the wrongful death claim and reasonable and appropriate for 90% of the total damages to be awarded for the survival claim. Given the trial court's findings concerning the damages evidence, allocating just 20% of the settlement proceeds to the survival claim is not reasonable. On the contrary, the allocation should have been 10% for the wrongful death claim and 90% for the survival claim for set off purposes.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's ruling denying Petitioner's motion for judgment n.o.v. because Respondent did not introduce any legally sufficient evidence of causation.
2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's order granting additur because the jury's damage awards were not actuated by passion, caprice, or prejudice, and the trial court failed to pay substantial deference to the jury's awards.

3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's abuse of discretion in accepting Respondent's allocation of settlement proceeds.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural history.

Steven Stewart initiated this asbestos products liability matter by a Complaint filed in February 2013. Complaint, Record on Appeal ("R"), pp. 30-56. Stewart filed an Amended Complaint in May 2013 adding Defendant-Appellant Scapa Waycross, Inc. (Amended Complaint, R. 57-71).

Stewart died in August 2013. (Suggestion of Party's Death, R. 72-75). Stephen R. Edwards, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Steven Redfearn Stewart, filed a Motion to Substitute Party and Motion to File a Second Amended Complaint, which was granted, (Order, R. 1-5), and Stewart filed a Second Amended Complaint in November 2013, (Second Amended Complaint, R. 76-92). Scapa filed an Answer to the Second Amended Complaint. (Scapa Answer, R. 93-102).

Stewart settled with all other defendants before trial. Trial was conducted from January 29, 2018 to February 2, 2018 and then continued from February 7, 2018 to February 9, 2018 against Scapa alone. (Trial Transcripts, R. 408-1646).

The jury returned a verdict in favor of Stewart on his negligence claim, and awarded actual damages of \$600,000 for Stewart's survival claim and \$100,000 for Stewart's wrongful death claim for total damages of \$700,000. (Verdict Form, R. 26-29). The jury did not find that Scapa's conduct was willful, wanton or reckless. *Id.*

Following the verdict, Scapa filed a Motion for Setoff, (R. 141-45), a Motion for Production of Plaintiff's Settlements and Payments with all Third Party Tortfeasors, (R. 164-

70), and a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict on liability issues, but did not ask for a new trial, (R. 171-74).

Stewart filed a Motion for a New Trial *Nisi Additur*, (R. 175-83), arguing that the verdict should be raised to \$2,630,000 for Stewart's survival claim and \$600,000 for Stewart's wrongful death claim, for a total verdict of \$3,230,000, more than six times the jury's verdict. Scapa filed its Brief in Support of Motion for JNOV. (R. 184-93). Scapa also filed a response to Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial *Nisi Additur*. (R. 194-98).

The Circuit Court held a hearing on the parties' post-trial motions and heard arguments on Stewart's Motion for New Trial *Nisi Additur* and granted an added \$400,000 to the jury's survival award of \$600,000 to bring it to \$1,000,000, (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, pp. 25-27, R. 1671-73), but did not alter the wrongful death damages awarded by the jury. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, pp. 24-25, R. 1670-71).

The Circuit Court also heard argument on Scapa's Motion for Production of Plaintiff's Settlements and Payments with all Third Party Tortfeasors or, in the alternative, Scapa asked that the Court review the settlements *in camera*. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, pp. 27-29, R. 1673-75). Scapa's counsel acknowledged that Stewart had produced the settlement numbers just before the hearing, but not the settlement documents. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, p. 32, R. 1678).

The disclosure revealed that Stewart had received or would receive \$1,036,000 in prior settlements, and that Stewart had uniformly allocated the previous settlement amounts by putting 80% on the wrongful death claim and 20% on the survival claim. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, pp. 32, 36-37, R. 1678, 1682-83). Due to that recent disclosure,

counsel for Scapa asked for time to move to reallocate those settlements, which the Circuit Court granted. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, pp. 33, 35, R. 1679, 1681).

Scapa filed a Motion to Reallocate Settlement Proceeds and a Brief in Support of same. (R. 199-204). The Court held a hearing on Scapa's Motion to Reallocate Settlement Proceeds. (10/10/18 Motion Transcript, R. 1687-1708).

On March 25, 2019, the Court issued its Order on Post-Trial Motions, granting Stewart's Motion for New Trial *Nisi Additur*, denying Scapa's Motion for JNOV, denying Scapa's Motion for Production of Plaintiff's Settlements and Payments with all Third-Party Tortfeasors, granting Scapa's Motion for Setoff, and denying Scapa's Motion to Reallocate Settlement Proceeds. (Order Re: Post-Trial Motions, R. 6-25).

Scapa timely appealed. (Notice of Appeal, R. 210-32).

2. Facts

Mr. Stewart was employed at the Bowater Paper Mill in Catawba, South Carolina, from 1963 to 2002. (2/18/13 Stewart Depo., p. 25, R. 2102).¹ He was originally hired as a utility man performing clean up on Paper Machine 1. (2/18/13 Stewart Depo., pp. 25-27, R. 2102-04). He was promoted to several different positions at Bowater, but he worked his entire career on Paper Machine Number 1. (2/18/13 Stewart Depo., pp. 27-30, R. 2104-07).

The paper machines used dryer felts to keep the paper against the dryer drums, which dried the paper, and the felts would also absorb moisture from the paper sheets. (1 Tr. 269-270, R. 676-77; 2 Tr. 84-85, R. 1236-37). Bowater purchased dryer felts from Scapa from 1963 until around 1981. *See* (Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit No. 56, R. 2095-96) (showing the first purchase of Scapa felt in 1963, installed in 1964). During Mr. Stewart's career, Bowater

¹ Mr. Stewart's discovery deposition taken on February 18, 2013 was read into the record at trial on February 2, 2018. (1 Tr. 570-571, R. 977-78).

used 288 dryer felts on Paper Machine 1, but only 3.8% of those dryer felts were Scapa asbestos-containing dryer felts. (2 Tr. 92-93, R. 1244-45).

Mr. Stewart did not know which dryer felts contained asbestos and could not tell from looking at the dryer felts. (2/18/13 Stewart Depo. pp. 168-71, 179, 181, R. 2114-19). Similarly, Mr. Stewart's co-workers were unable to identify asbestos-containing Scapa dryer felts that Stewart worked with. (7/13/13 Hegler Depo., pp. 68-69, R. 2205-06);² (1 Tr. 337-38, R. 744-45) (testimony of co-worker Steele).

Because there were no fact witnesses tying Mr. Stewart to exposure to asbestos-containing Scapa dryer felts, Plaintiff relied on so-called "Mastercards," which Scapa maintained to track the manufacture, sale, shipment, and use of Scapa dryer felts at Bowater, to demonstrate theoretical exposure. (1 Tr. 661-662, R. 1068-69). According to the Mastercards introduced at trial, Bowater started purchasing dryer felts from Scapa in 1964. *See* (Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit No. 56, R. 2095-96). However, the Mastercards also show that Scapa did not send any asbestos-containing dryer felts to Bowater until 1969. (Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit No. 26, R. 2051-52) (earliest Mastercard referencing asbestos).

Before 1968 and the introduction of asbestos-containing Scapa dryer felts, Mr. Stewart had worked as a utility man, a fifth hand, and a fourth hand. In 1968, Mr. Stewart was promoted from fourth hand to third hand. (1 Tr. 262, 267, R. 669, 674) (Co-Worker Fred Steele testified that he started working with Stewart in 1968 at which time Stewart was a third hand). After 1968, Mr. Stewart only worked as a third hand, a backtender, and a machine tender. (2/28/13 Stewart Depo., p. 30, R. 2107).

² Mr. Hegler's deposition testimony was read into the record. (1 Tr. 158, R. 565).

Significantly, those higher level, more senior positions did not involve cutting the dryer felt or cleaning the paper machine by blowing out the dryer. (1 Tr. 278, R. 685; 2/28/13 Stewart Depo. pp. 59-62, R. 2109-12). The third hand's primary job was to watch the paper machine and supervise other workers. (1 Tr. 266, 334, R. 673, 741; 2/28/13 Stewart Depo., p. 59, R. 2109). In fact, a machine tender did not have regular contact with dryer felts in any capacity. (3/4/13 Stewart Depo. p. 54, R. 2173). It was primarily up to the utility man and fifth hand to clean out the machine. (1 Tr. 278, R. 685). Fifth hands and fourth hands were primarily involved in cutting the dryer felt. (1 Tr. 289, R. 696).

Mr. Stewart's transition from fourth hand to third hand in 1968 is important because Plaintiff's own experts recognized that the dryer felt would not release any fibers unless it was being cut or otherwise manipulated by the worker. Testimony of Plaintiff's expert Christopher DePasquale, (1 Tr. 470-471, R. 877-78). Thus, by the time that Scapa was shipping asbestos-containing dryer felt to Bowater in 1969, Mr. Stewart's positions no longer directly involved cutting or manipulating the dryer felts. Consequently, Plaintiff presented no evidence that Mr. Stewart worked closely enough to others cutting or manipulating asbestos-containing Scapa dryer felts to be exposed to asbestos from those dryer felts after becoming a third hand in 1968.

Mr. Stewart was diagnosed with malignant pleural mesothelioma on October 24, 2012. (1 Tr. 168, R. 575). He incurred \$241,822.70 in medical costs associated with that diagnosis. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

1. **The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court’s finding that Stewart established specific causation.**

In affirming the trial court’s causation ruling, the Court of Appeals relied on its prior holding in *Jolly v. Gen. Elec. Co.*, 435 S.C. 607 (Ct. App. 2021), now pending before this Court on a petition for writ of certiorari. The Court of Appeal’s causation ruling in *Jolly* is erroneous for the reasons stated in the certiorari petition in that case, incorporated herein by reference. Among other things, the court in *Jolly* erred by (i) relying on *Rost v. Ford Motor Co.*, 151 A.3d 1032 (Pa. 2016), and (ii) overlooking the differences between South Carolina law and Pennsylvania law. In short, the Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with prior rulings by this Court and most courts elsewhere.

A. **The “cumulative dose” theory is indistinguishable from the junk science “every exposure” theory rejected by dozens of jurisdictions.**

Here, as in *Jolly*, the Court of Appeals failed to appreciate that the “cumulative dose” theory does not differ from the “each and every exposure” theory. *See Krik v. Exxon Mobil Corp.*, 870 F.3d 669, 675 (7th Cir. 2017) (rejecting cumulative exposure theory of causation because it is effectively the same as an each and every exposure theory); *Smith v. Ford Motor Co.*, No. 2:08-CV-630, 2013 WL 214378, at *3 (D. Utah Jan. 18, 2013) (“Dr. Hammar seeks to base his causation opinion not on the thin reed that he cannot rule any exposure out, but on the opposite: he rules all exposures ‘in,’ boldly stating that Mr. Smith’s mesothelioma ‘was caused by his total and cumulative exposure to asbestos, with all exposures and all products playing a contributing role.’ This asks too much from too little evidence as far as the law is concerned.”).

Unlike the Pennsylvania Supreme Court in *Rost*—relied on by the Court of Appeals in *Jolly*—this Court has never rejected the principle that the substantial factor causation test

requires a comparative analysis of different exposures. *See Rost*, 151 A.3d at 1051 n.13. South Carolina’s substantial factor causation test derives from the test in *Lohrmann v. Pittsburgh Corning Corp.*, 782 F.2d 1156 (4th Cir. 1986), which this Court adopted in *Henderson v. Allied Signal, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 179 (2007). Pennsylvania’s substantial factor causation standard, in contrast, has a different origin and, thus, Pennsylvania law differs from South Carolina law. The Pennsylvania Supreme Court adopted the substantial factor causation test set forth by the Seventh Circuit in *Tragarz v. Keene Corp.*, 980 F.2d 411, 420 (7th Cir. 1992). *Gregg v. V-J Auto Parts, Co.*, 943 A.2d 216, 226 (Pa. 2007) (adopting the *Tragarz* test). In *Tragarz*, the Seventh Circuit applied Illinois proximate cause law, which allows for a “less rigid” frequency, regularity, and proximity test in cases of mesothelioma. 980 F.2d at 420–21. The majority in *Rost* rejected any need for a comparative assessment of differing exposures on the ground that “[i]n *Tragarz*, the Seventh Circuit specifically rejected any notion that its test requires a comparative analysis of different exposures to asbestos, and instead made clear that the focus must be on the level of exposure to the defendant’s product.” *Rost*, 151 A.3d at 1051 n.13.

Notably, according to two members of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court, the rejection of a comparative assessment by the four-justice majority in *Rost* was in direct conflict with the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s unanimous holding in *Betz v. Pneumo Abex, LLC*, 44 A.3d 27, 57 (Pa. 2012). *See Rost*, 151 A.3d at 1066-67 (Baer, J., dissenting) (highlighting that the unanimous *Betz* court’s “criticism of the each and every exposure theory of substantial causation hinged on recognition of the significance of comparative assessments” and noting that “the unanimous decision of the Court in *Betz* is precedent binding the current members of this Court, absent an explanation of why the legal principle of *stare decisis*

should not be followed”). The majority in *Rost*, however, effectively stated it was not rejecting its prior *Betz* decision, but instead following its earlier adoption of the *Tragarz* Illinois decision which recognizes a weakened substantial factor causation test in mesothelioma cases. However, this Court in *Henderson*, which itself involved a mesothelioma plaintiff, did ***not*** adopt a different substantial factor causation test for mesothelioma cases. Therefore, our Court of Appeals, instead of following this Court’s binding precedent in *Henderson*, has erroneously adopted the *Rost* case, which (and there were dissents) follows and adopts Illinois law that differs from *Henderson*.

Courts in the Fourth Circuit applying South Carolina law have found substantial factor causation requires more than proof a decedent had “occupational” or “above background” exposures from a defendant’s product. *See Haskins v. 3M Co.*, No. 2:15-CV-02086-DCN, 2017 WL 3118017, at *7 (D.S.C. July 21, 2017) (“[T]he mere fact that ‘occupational’ or ‘above-background’ exposures contribute to the total cumulative dose fails to explain why [a plaintiff’s expert] views them as more causative than non-occupational or below-background exposures.”). It also requires a *contextual analysis*—causation experts must evaluate the relative significance of a decedent’s exposures. *See Haskins*, 2017 WL 3118017, at *8 (“[A] robust concept of ‘substantial causation’ should account for the broader context in which a particular exposure occurs—including the defendant’s relative contribution to the overall exposure, rather than an assessment of whether its contribution was sufficiently harmful in the abstract.”). Thus, although short exposures *might* satisfy the standard if they are the *only* exposures, it is not enough to show “above background” exposure to a particular product if significant evidence of other exposures exists. *See id.*

Scapa does not contend Stewart must exclude every possible cause of Mr. Stewart's mesothelioma or that a precise quantification of asbestos fibers Mr. Stewart was exposed to from Scapa dryer felts is required. Rather, Scapa has argued, consistent with Fourth Circuit law from which the substantial factor causation test derives, that some qualitative analysis comparing Mr. Stewart's exposures from Scapa with his exposures from other sources is necessary to determine whether Scapa exposures were a substantial factor contributing to Mr. Stewart's disease. Stewart's experts cannot reliably opine that exposure to Scapa dryer felts was a substantial factor in causing Mr. Stewart's disease by pretending the Scapa exposures were Mr. Stewart's only exposures and ignoring context. The Court of Appeals' ruling accepting Stewart's expert testimony, in effect, creates strict liability for any above-background exposures. The substantial factor test was designed to avoid this unbounded liability. *See McIndoe v. Huntington Ingalls Inc.*, 817 F.3d 1170, 1177 (9th Cir. 2016).

Rost, Tragarz, and the Pennsylvania and Illinois law on which they are based are contrary to core principles of substantial factor causation under South Carolina law. Thus, by applying *Rost*, the Court of Appeals applied a different standard than that adopted by this Court, and the Court of Appeals' holdings in this case and in *Jolly* therefore conflict with binding precedent.

Further, *Lohrmann*, adopted by *Henderson*, is a product-specific test, asking whether the evidence would permit a reasonable jury to conclude a manufacturer's product was a substantial cause of the plaintiff's disease. *Lohrmann*, 782 F.2d at 1162–63. A plaintiff cannot meet his burden by showing general asbestos exposure cumulatively caused his disease. *See, e.g., Schwartz v. Honeywell Int'l, Inc.*, 102 N.E.3d 477, 482 (Ohio 2018) (collecting cases from across jurisdictions); *Martin v. Cincinnati Gas & Elec. Co.*, 561 F.3d 439, 443

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