THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 18 2023**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001574

Stephen R. Edwards, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Steven Redfearn Stewart,..... Respondent,

v.

Scapa Waycross, Inc.,.....Petitioner.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854  
BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC  
P.O. Box 897  
Hampton, SC 29924  
803-943-4529

Gregory Hyland  
Thomas H. Hart, III  
HART, HYLAND, SHEPHERD, LLC  
207 East 1<sup>st</sup> North Street  
Summerville, SC 29483  
843-410-0711

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

## **ARGUMENT**

As an initial matter, the Court’s recent decision to deny the petition for writ of certiorari in *Jolly* as to the JNOV issue regarding specific causation and the cumulative exposure theory is dispositive as to Question I in Scapa’s petition in this case because it means that the *Jolly* opinion, which the Court of Appeals relied upon to affirm the denial of the motion for JNOV in this case,

is final, controlling law. Scapa has never argued that this case is distinguishable from *Jolly*. The Court should deny the petition as to Question I solely on the basis of its denial in *Jolly*. Regardless, Stewart includes brief substantive arguments on Question I.<sup>5</sup>

Stewart presented evidence of his exposure to Scapa’s dryer felts and that this exposure substantially contributed to his mesothelioma and death. Stewart presented ample lay and expert testimony of to show the frequency, regularity, and proximity of his exposure to Scapa’s asbestos-containing dryer felts.

The lower court properly exercised its discretion to grant additur for survival damages given the uncontroverted testimony of Stewart’s intense mental and physical pain and suffering. It also properly denied Scapa’s motion to reallocate the settlement proceeds given the undeniable evidence of wrongful death and survival damages and the amount of Stewart’s recovery.

The Court should deny the petition in its entirety.

**I. Scapa’s JNOV arguments as to the “cumulative exposure” theory and expert testimony are not preserved.<sup>6</sup>**

Scapa did not make any arguments in its directed verdict motion about the “cumulative exposure” theory or the reliability of Stewart’s experts’ opinions. (R. pp. 1479-96, 2256-57). Scapa did not argue that any expert lacked a sufficient factual predicate for his causation testimony. (Br. of App. pp. 18-20). An “issue [] not raised as a ground for a directed verdict during the liability stage of the trial and is not preserved for this Court’s review.” *Jamison v. Morris*, 385 S.C. 215, 226, 684 S.E.2d 168, 173 (2009). In its directed verdict motion, Scapa argued only that the

---

<sup>5</sup> Stewart incorporates his Final Brief of Respondents, arguments made at the oral argument in this case, and return to petition for rehearing, and the arguments in opposition to the petition for writ of certiorari filed in *Jolly v. Gen. Elec. Co.*, Appellate Case No. 2022-000272.

<sup>6</sup> Stewart raised issue preservation to the Court of Appeals. (Br. of Resp’t p. 12). The Court did not address preservation but did address the merits of Scapa’s arguments.

substance of the admitted testimony did not satisfy the specific causation standard. (R. pp. 1479-85). Scapa filed a motion *in limine* as to portions of only Dr. Brody and Dr. Frank’s testimony. (R. pp. 122-24). The lower court denied the motion (R. p. 348), and Scapa then failed to make an objection to expert testimony at trial. “[M]aking a motion *in limine* to exclude evidence at the beginning of trial does not preserve an issue for review because a motion *in limine* is not a final determination. The moving party, therefore, must make a contemporaneous objection when the evidence is introduced.” *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (internal quotation marks omitted). Scapa’s failure to make any objection or a contemporaneous objection to the testimony it now challenges on appeal makes the issues unpreserved.

Finally, it is unclear what specific expert(s) and testimony Scapa challenges. It does not ask the Court to exclude any specific testimony. (Br. of App. pp. 13-17). There is no challenge as to the qualifications of the experts to testify. Scapa appears to challenge the substance of some of their testimony but does not specify to this Court, and did not specify to the Court of Appeals or the lower court, what it seeks to exclude or on what basis it seeks exclusion.

The Court should deny the petition because these arguments are unpreserved for its review.

**II. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the lower court’s decision to deny Scapa’s motion for JNOV where Stewart presented ample evidence of specific causation and his experts provided testimony that legally satisfies the causation standard.**

The lower court correctly denied Scapa’s motion for JNOV because Stewart presented ample expert and lay witness testimony and evidence that, viewed in a light most favorable to him, supports a reasonable inference of substantial causation and constitutes evidence of exposure to Scapa’s asbestos-containing dryer felts on a regular basis over an extended period of time in proximity to where Stewart actually worked. Scapa makes two arguments—(1) the cumulative exposure theory is really the each-and-every-exposure theory and, as such, it is “junk science”;

and (2) the principle that every exposure contributes to a person's mesothelioma is not a scientific fact. The Court should reject both of these arguments.

**As to the cumulative exposure theory**, Scapa's main contention is that the Court of Appeals incorrectly decided *Jolly*—an argument that this Court already rejected when it denied the petition for writ of certiorari on that issue. It is now the final, controlling law of South Carolina that the substantial factor test does not require “a precise quantification of the number of asbestos fibers to which [the plaintiff] was exposed [or] a ‘threshold exposure.’” *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 633, 865 S.E.2d at 25. It is the law that “the cumulative dose theory” is “basic science” that “is not the equivalent of testifying that ‘each and every exposure’ was a substantial factor” in causation. *Id.* at 634, 865 S.E.2d at 26. It is the law that “[s]tating that a certain exposure contributes to an individual's cumulative dose does not espouse the view that ‘each and every breath’ of asbestos is ‘substantially’ causative of mesothelioma or imply that one exposure meets the legal requirement for causation.” *Id.* at 635-36, 865 S.E.2d at 26-27. Further, such testimony does **not** “supplant the *Henderson/Lohrmann* test.” *Id.* at 636, 865 S.E.2d at 27. On this basis alone, the Court should deny the petition as to Question I.

Additionally, Scapa cannot ask this Court to overturn *Jolly* now when it did not move under Rule 217, SCACR, to argue against precedent at the oral argument of this case and did not even argue that the Court should overturn *Jolly* or that Stewart's case differs from *Jolly* on this issue.

Even addressing the merits, Scapa is wrong factually and legally. Factually, Stewart's evidence directly contradicted the notion that the cumulative exposure theory and every exposure theory are the same thing. Dr. Frank testified he does **not** “believe that each and every is the same as cumulative [exposure].” (R. p. 2321 Ins. 2-4). Rather, his opinion is that, while mesothelioma is not attributable to background asbestos exposure alone, in a case with additional exposure, the

background level contributes to the cumulative exposure. (R. p. 2321). Dr. Frank “would *not* agree with” the statement that any exposure, regardless of dosage, is sufficient to cause asbestos-induced cancer. (R. p. 2330 Ins. 1-5) (emphasis added).

Legally, the Court of Appeals’ decision does not alter or contradict South Carolina substantial causation law. Scapa focuses much of its argument on *Jolly*’s citation to *Rost v. Ford Motor Co.*, 151 A.3d 1032 (Pa. 2016). (Pet. pp. 9-13). This argument is misplaced. The Court of Appeals stated it found *Rost* persuasive as to distinguishing between cumulative exposure theory and each-and-every-exposure theory. *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 635, 865 S.E.2d at 26. *Rost* also analyzed Dr. Frank’s testimony—which is the same expert that testified in *Jolly* and in this case. *Id.* The Court did not cite to or follow substantive substantial causation law from Pennsylvania. Instead, in *Jolly* (now final law) and in this case, the Court of Appeals correctly used South Carolina law stated in *Henderson v. Allied Signal, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 179, 185, 644 S.E.2d 724, 727 (2007) (quoting *Lohrmann v. Pittsburgh Corning Corp.*, 782 F.2d 1156, 1162 (4th Cir. 1986)).

Scapa’s argument that the Court of Appeals’ decision “in effect, creates strict liability for any above-background exposures” and removes the requirement that an exposure be substantial is patently false and an unfounded attempt to sensationalize the Court’s well-reasoned and legally grounded decision. (Pet. pp. 12-13). The facts addressed by the Court of Appeals in this case are exposure that is much more than barely above-background. They included the “undisputed” evidence that Scapa’s dryer felts contained “large quantities of asbestos” and 23 of them were on paper machine one during Stewart’s career. *Edwards*, 878 S.E.2d at 706. Significantly “[a]ll but one position Stewart held while at Bowater required him to participate in cleaning the felts or manually handling the felts,” and these jobs released breathable, visible, and accumulated asbestos fibers into the air, on the workers’ bodies, and on the floor. *Id.* at 706. Further, Stewart’s experts

considered other potential exposures to asbestos and still concluded that the specific Scapa dryer felts were a substantial cause of Stewart's mesothelioma. Christopher DePasquale considered dryer felts, thermal insulation on piping, and gaskets and packing related to valves. (R. p. 848 lns. 9-14). He discounted thermal insulation on piping because his investigation showed the "vast majority" of the pipes were cladded. (R. pp. 849-50). He discounted gaskets because Stewart did not remember working with gaskets or packing. (R. p. 894).

Perhaps more compelling (and telling) is that Scapa's argument directly contradicts its main defense at trial—that mere presence (and not physical or direct work) around other asbestos-containing products caused his mesothelioma.<sup>7</sup> Based on its own defense theory of Stewart's alleged exposure to asbestos from other products, Scapa cannot credibly deny that Stewart's evidence, viewed in a light most favorable to him, supports a reasonable inference of a substantial causative exposure to Scapa dryer felts "on a regular basis over some extended period of time in proximity to where the plaintiff actually worked." *Henderson*, 373 S.C. at 185, 644 S.E.2d at 727 (internal quotation marks omitted). "[W]hat's good for the goose is good for the gander," and Scapa cannot argue for its defense that Stewart was merely near other asbestos-containing products while attacking Stewart's ample evidence of direct, physical exposure to Scapa's breathable asbestos fibers. *Rodarte v. Univ. of S.C.*, 419 S.C. 592, 603 n.13, 799 S.E.2d 912, 917 (2017). The Court of Appeals correctly noted that "[i]n seeking to establish an empty-chair defense, a defendant must assign fault for the plaintiff's injury to another party by providing evidence to the fact-finder that is sufficient for it to determine whether the party's actions were the cause of the plaintiff's

---

<sup>7</sup> See, e.g., R. pp. 723 lns. 21-24, 726-27, 747-48, 801-02, 819-22, 877, 880-82, 884, 890-94, 946-48, 953, 958-60, 963, 1045-46, 1056-57, 1076, 1136, 1149-50, 1168-70, 1240-41, 1244-45, 1248-49, 1259-65, 1268-69, 1283, 1355, 1362-65, 1371-72, 1392-93, 1460-64, 1568, 1572, 1574-75, 1577-79, 1588.

injuries.” *Edwards*, 878 S.E.2d at 713 (internal quotation marks omitted); *see also Youmans v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 380 S.C. 263, 281-82, 670 S.E.2d 1, 10 (Ct. App. 2008) (“The defendant asserting an affirmative defense bears the burden of its proof.”). Scapa’s own attempted proof for an affirmative defense completely contradicts and undermines its argument.

Finally, Scapa quotes a portion of Dr. Frank’s testimony as supposedly showing that Dr. Frank did not try to distinguish between “substantial” and “insubstantial” contributing factors. (Pet. pp. 14-15) (emphasis omitted). Regardless of whether that is legally required, it is an incorrect characterization of the testimony. Dr. Frank simply stated that he could not “quantify” or make a “calculation” of the **specific** does of Scapa asbestos fibers that Stewart inhaled. (Pet. pp. 5-6). That does not mean that he could not testify, based on the testimony about Stewart’s exposure to and work with Scapa dryer felts, that Scapa’s asbestos was a substantial contributing factor to Stewart’s mesothelioma. Regardless, DePasquale also considered the presence of other asbestos-containing products at Bowater, but still concluded that Scapa’s dryer felts substantially contributed to Stewart’s mesothelioma. (R. pp. 848-50, 894). This makes Scapa’s argument—focused exclusively on Dr. Frank’s testimony—irrelevant.

**As to Scapa’s “scientific fact” argument**, it is unpreserved and based on an incorrect reading of the Court’s decision. Scapa did not argue in its petition for rehearing that the Court of Appeals found as a “scientific fact” that every exposure contributes to a person’s mesothelioma.<sup>8</sup> (Pet. for Rehearing). Therefore, it is not preserved for this Court’s consideration. *See Simmons v. Berkeley Elec. Coop., Inc.*, 419 S.C. 223, 235, 797 S.E.2d 387, 393 (2016) (“[I]n order for an issue

---

<sup>8</sup> It is noteworthy that Scapa now devotes five pages to this issue that it raises for the first time in this Court when it barely spends five pages on its arguments for Questions II and III combined.

to be preserved for the Supreme Court’s review, the issue must have been raised in a petition for rehearing before the Court of Appeals.”).

Regardless, the Court of Appeals did not hold that the principle that “every exposure” contributes to a person’s mesothelioma is an “irrefutable” scientific fact. (Pet. p. 15). The word “irrefutable” appears only in *Jolly* and not in the opinion in this case. Even within *Jolly*, the word appears in a block quote from the *Rost* case. After the quotation, the Court of Appeals states only that “*Rost* is particularly persuasive given that Dr. Frank” provided similar testimony in *Jolly*. *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 635, 865 S.E.2d at 27. The Court never holds anything is an irrefutable scientific fact. In the context of a JNOV motion the point is not whether something is an “irrefutable” “scientific fact” but, instead, whether there is evidence of something sufficient to submit it to a jury. Having held that Dr. Frank’s testimony about the cumulative exposure theory is proper medical evidence for a jury to hear, it was up to the jury to decide what to believe. It did so in this case, and Scapa’s misreading of *Jolly* provides no basis to overturn the denial of its JNOV motion. Finally, a petition for writ of certiorari is an inappropriate point in a case at which to argue the merits of which parties’ science is correct. The jury heard both parties’ evidence and properly made that determination for itself.

Scapa’s JNOV argument includes almost no discussion of the evidence presented at trial. Instead, it focuses on a misapprehension that the Court of Appeals changed South Carolina law on proximate cause for toxic tort cases and on a newly-made argument regarding what is scientific fact. Based on its order in *Jolly* and the arguments in this case, this Court should deny the petition as to Question I.

### **III. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the lower court’s discretionary decision to grant additur.**

The Court of Appeals conducted a thorough analysis of the evidence in this case to find that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting additur. Because “the record is replete with evidence of [Stewart’s] pain and suffering, which was unrefuted by Scapa, [the Court found] the trial court was well within its discretion in granting Stewart a new trial *nisi additur*.” *Edwards*, 878 S.E.2d at 710. The Court also found “that the trial court provided ample justification for increasing Stewart’s survival award” based on the law and its “meticulous[.]” analysis of the evidence. *Id.* Scapa provides no legal or factual basis for this Court to grant certiorari on this issue.

Scapa argues that additur is only “justified” if the jury does not award all of the medical expenses or does not “account for”, *i.e.* award any amount for, pain and suffering. (Pet. p. 20). That is not the law in South Carolina. *See Riley v. Ford Motor Co.*, 414 S.C. 185, 194, 777 S.E.2d 824, 829-30 (2015) (“While the presence of some amount of noneconomic damages may be a factor mitigating against the granting of a new trial *nisi additur*, there is no categorical rule prohibiting a *nisi additur* where a jury verdict includes some measure of noneconomic damages.”).

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